IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-616

MATTHEW MARSHALL,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MELISSA MINSK DONOHO Special Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 955700

M. CHANCE MEYER Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar #0056362

Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – South 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Tel (954) 713-1284 Fax (954) 713- 1299

COUNSEL FOR MR. MARSHALL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

In Porter v. McCollum, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's Strickland analysis in Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001) was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." 130 S. Ct. 447, 455 (2009). The United States Supreme Court made that determination pursuant to the standard established by the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act ("AEDPA"), which does not permit a federal court to reverse a state court ruling on constitutional grounds simply because the federal court disagrees or the federal court thinks the state court was wrong, but rather requires what is treated as an extremely high level of deference to state court rulings, prohibiting federal courts from altering state court judgments and sentences unless the application of federal law by the state court, which in the Porter case was Strickland, was unreasonable, meaning not even supported by reason or a rationale. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter* must be read. When asking whether Porter requires a change in this Court's jurisprudence going forward, it must be considered that the United States Supreme Court in Porter found this Court's application of *Strickland* to be so unreasonable that the United States Supreme Court found it appropriate to reach past its concerns of federalism and deference to state courts and respect for state sovereignty to correct the unconstitutional ruling.

Mr. Marshall asks this Court to consider *Porter* introspectively, looking past the first blush language of the opinion, and inquiring into whether or not *Porter* forbids something that this Court has done in the present case. In other words, giving *Porter* a read-through and asking if this case is distinguishable may be insufficient to identify the underlying constitutional problem; Mr. Marshall asks this Court to attain a sense for the problem in conceptual approach that *Porter* identifies and then ask if something similar happened here. This Court must consider whether the unreasonable analysis in *Porter* was merely an aberration, limited solely to the penalty phase ineffectiveness claim in that case and wholly different and separate from other *Strickland* analyses by this Court, or was it in fact indicative of a non-isolated conceptual problem in this Court's approach to *Strickland* issues that occurred also in the present case.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The underlying facts relevant to the present claims were summarized by this Court in denying Mr. Marshall's *Brady/Giglio* and *Strickland* claims. This Court's statements not only contain the underlying facts needed to demonstrate the *Porter* error committed in this case but themselves form part of the basis of the instant *Porter* claims, and thus must be reviewed here in there entirety. In reviewing the facts of this case, it must be kept in mind that Mr. Marshall's jury recommended that he be sentenced to life and the trial judge overrode that recommendation and imposed death. While the case law tends to contemplate the effect on a jury of unpresented evidence, that analysis is somewhat strained here, as the jury thought Mr. Marshall deserved to live. Since Florida does not count death sentences among the matters that must be determined by a jury, we must ask here how the unpresented evidence would have affected the ultimate sentencer: the judge, or how the judge might have conceived differently of the jury's recommendation had it been supported by the unpresented evidence described below.

In denying Mr. Marshall's *Brady* claim, this Court summarized the facts relevant to the present claim, and explained its conclusion as follows:

Marshall also argues that the trial court erred in denying his claim that the State withheld exculpatory evidence in violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963), and that the State presented false testimony in violation of Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 92 S.Ct. 763, 31 L.Ed.2d 104 (1972). In particular, Marshall alleges that the State withheld evidence that inmates George Mendoza and David Marshall were promised to be housed together in the prison system in exchange for their testimony against Marshall. Marshall contends that had the jury learned of this promise the credibility of Mendoza's testimony at trial would have been severely undermined. As such, Marshall argues that there is a reasonable probability that the jury would have found him not guilty, or guilty of a lesser offense than first-degree murder.

To support this claim, Marshall called as witnesses at the postconviction evidentiary hearing inmates George Mendoza and David Marshall. Mendoza and David Marshall both testified that they were promised by Inspectors Sobach and Riggins and Assistant State

Attorney Spiller that they would be housed together in the prison system at an institution closer to home for their safety and protection in exchange for their testimony. According to Mendoza and David Marshall, the initial promise was made by investigator Riggins and later reiterated at a meeting following their grand jury testimony where Sobach, Riggins, and Spiller were present. Mendoza noted that they were informed their protection and safety were the reasons that they would continue to be housed together. Mendoza also indicated that Assistant State Attorney Spiller advised him that it was normal procedure in the courtroom to state that he was promised nothing in exchange for his testimony if asked by defense counsel. On cross-examination. Mendoza however, both and David Marshall acknowledged writing letters to Assistant State Attorney Spiller wherein they indicated that they understood no promises could be made. Mendoza and David Marshall also reiterated on cross-examination that their prior statements and testimony in the case were truthful.

FN11. Marshall also attached to his postconviction motion a copy of a civil rights action Mendoza filed against numerous correctional officials, in which Mendoza reiterated that an oral contract/agreement was made to house him and David Marshall together for their protection at an institution close to home for being State witnesses in Matthew Marshall's case.

Marshall also called Kerry Flack, formerly with the Department of Corrections, as a witness at the postconviction evidentiary hearing. Flack testified that she became involved when inspector Sobach requested that she review files concerning Mendoza and David Marshall. According to Flack, Sobach indicated that Mendoza and David Marshall had been transferred to different institutions and he did not know whether or not they should have been permitted to remain at the same location. After reviewing the files and speaking with the classifications office and Inspector Sobach, Flack testified that she decided that they had agreed that the inmates could move together in order to watch out for each other. Accordingly, she stated that she requested a transfer back to the same institution for Mendoza and David Marshall. Ms. Flack acknowledged at the evidentiary hearing upon viewing a print-out of the prison housing history for Mendoza and David Marshall that it was unusual for inmates to be transferred twice to the same location at the same time.

In rebuttal, the State called Inspectors Sobach and Riggins and Assistant State Attorney Spiller as witnesses during the postconviction evidentiary hearing. Sobach, Riggins, and Spiller each denied making or having any knowledge of any promises being made to Mendoza and David Marshall in exchange for their testimony. Sobach indicated that initial transfers of inmate witnesses are for their protection, but noted that any kind of commitment to keep two individuals together forever is totally impracticable. He also indicated that he would not have the authority to keep Mendoza and David Marshall housed together. Inspector Riggins similarly testified that he did not have transfer authority. On cross-examination, Inspector Sobach acknowledged that it was kind of unique that Mendoza and David Marshall were able to stay together. However, he denied telling Kerry Flack that Mendoza and David Marshall were promised to be kept together. Rather, he testified that he contacted Flack because he was concerned as to whether or not the special review against Mendoza and David Marshall, causing their separation, was appropriate or whether it may have been retaliation of some sort.

Assistant State Attorney Spiller similarly testified that no promises were made to Mendoza and David Marshall in exchange for their testimony, although he and Inspector Riggins both acknowledged that Mendoza and David Marshall were reassured that everything possible would be done to protect them from retribution. Spiller stated that Mendoza and David Marshall on two occasions prior to trial requested that they be assured that they would be housed together. However, Spiller testified that he informed them on both occasions that he had no authority over housing and would not make any promises that could jeopardize the case. Although Spiller admitted writing a letter to the Department of Corrections denoting Mendoza's and David Marshall's cooperation in the case, he denied ever requesting that the department house the two inmates together. Lastly, Assistant State Attorney Spiller denied instructing Mendoza that it is normal procedure for witnesses to deny that promises were made in exchange for their testimony when asked at trial.

The trial court denied Marshall's claim, concluding that Marshall had failed to prove either a Brady or a Giglio violation. In so doing, the trial court noted that there was no knowing presentation of false testimony by the State since Mendoza himself acknowledged that he understood that the State could make no promises and had made no promises to induce his testimony. For the following reasons, it does not appear that the trial court erred in denying Marshall's Brady/Giglio claim."

Marshall v. State, 854 So. 2d 1235, 1248-50 (Fla. 2003).

In denying Mr. Marshall's Strickland claim, this Court discussed the

evidence presented at the postconviction evidentiary hearing, none of which was

ever discovered or attempted to be discovered by trial counsel as follows:

At the postconviction evidentiary hearing, Marshall called three of his brothers to testify, Brindley Marshall, Percival Marshall, Jr., and Marvin Marshall. Each of Marshall's brothers testified that their father was extremely abusive while they were growing up. In particular, Marshall's brothers testified that their father would beat them with extension cords, tree branches, and electrical wire. Sometimes the beatings would last upward of thirty to forty-five minutes. In addition, Brindley and Percival each testified that their father would bind their hands and feet with duct tape, take off all of their clothes, and beat them. Brindley and Percival also testified that they, along with Marshall, would sometimes sleep in the toolshed in the backyard, on the roof of the health clinic behind their house, or at their aunt's house to avoid the abuse. They also indicated that their father abused alcohol. Marshall's brothers further testified that their father abused their mother, and allegedly stabbed her on one occasion. However, the brothers acknowledged that they did not call the police to report the abuse. All three brothers testified that they were not contacted by trial counsel. Brindley and Marvin were in prison at the time of trial.

Marshall also presented testimony from five of his cousins at the evidentiary hearing, Medwer Moultrie, Samuel Whymns, Lisa Laing Forbes, Jacqueline Laing, and Philencia Dames. Samuel Whymns, Lisa Laing Forbes, Jacqueline Laing, and Philencia Dames lived in the Bahamas, but testified that they visited and stayed at Marshall's home for varying amounts of time while growing up. Medwer Moultrie, on the other hand, testified that he lived with Marshall's family for two years at the request of his mother, who asked him to keep an eye on his aunt (Marshall's mother) because his uncle (Marshall's father) was being abusive. Marshall's cousins each testified in varying degrees as to the physical abuse Marshall and his mother suffered. All of Marshall's five cousins indicated that they were not contacted by trial counsel. Marshall's four cousins who lived in the Bahamas at the time of the trial also indicated that their relatives in Miami knew how to contact them.

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that he conducted a thorough interview with Marshall prior to trial during which he tried to obtain a life history. Trial counsel acknowledged that his notes from this interview indicated that Marshall did not want to involve his brothers and sisters, although trial counsel said he would have disregarded this request due to his duty to investigate. During this interview, Marshall told trial counsel that he completed tenth grade and started eleventh, that he was very fortunate to have two parents who motivated and encouraged him to succeed, and that there was so much love in his family. Marshall also denied being neglected or abused. Marshall described discipline at home as 75% verbal and 25% physical, although he did not characterize the physical discipline as abusive. Marshall did not relate any physical or mental health problems to trial counsel, and denied having suffered any serious head injuries. Defense counsel also indicated that he reviewed Marshall's school, prison, and mental health records.

In addition to speaking with Marshall, trial counsel indicated that he made efforts to speak with family members. Marshall provided trial counsel with his aunt's name, and trial counsel indicated that he wrote two letters to her requesting that she contact him because Marshall had indicated that she could put him in touch with Marshall's father and other relatives. Marshall's aunt never responded to trial counsel's inquiries. Trial counsel, however, did eventually speak with Marshall's father. According to trial counsel, Marshall's father indicated that Marshall had a good upbringing, although he and his brothers were always getting into trouble. Although trial counsel acknowledged that Marshall's father's comments about him having good grades were at odds with Marshall's school records, he indicated that he would not have made a different proffer by editing what the father would have said had he testified. Marshall's father also provided trial counsel with the names and ages of Marshall's brothers, but claimed not to know where they were living because he had disowned them due to their behavior. Trial counsel conceded during the evidentiary hearing that he did not file a motion for an investigator, nor did he request the assistance of either of the investigators working with the public defender's office at the time. Trial counsel explained that he would not have

sent a female investigator into urban Dade County looking for witnesses because it would not have been safe. He also indicated that he would not have sent the other investigator, an elderly man, into Dade County either. Although trial counsel stated that he thought about driving into Liberty City himself, he chose not to do so. Trial counsel further explained that he had no information leading him to Liberty City. Trial counsel also testified that he would not have called Marshall's brother Brindley as a witness no matter what he had to offer, because he had previously tried to help Marshall escape. Trial counsel also noted that Marshall's father led him to believe that he was going to bring as many family members as possible with him to the penalty phase. Trial counsel acknowledged that had he possessed information concerning child abuse, he would have presented it at the penalty phase. However, trial counsel testified the problem in this case was that the information Marshall relayed to him coincided with what his father had said. Thus, it does not appear that the trial court erred in concluding that trial counsel conducted a reasonable investigation.

Marshall v. State, 854 So. 2d 1235, 1245-47 (Fla. 2003).

Current proceedings

On November 29, 2010, Mr. Marshall filed a successive motion to vacate judgments of conviction and sentence pursuant to 3.851 alleging that this Court failed to properly analyze prejudice based on clearly established federal law as set forth in *Porter v. McCollum* and *Strickland v. Washington*. (R3. 41-89). The State responded (R. 98-120) and the circuit court entered an order denying relief on February 21, 2011 (R. 159-161). The entirety of the trial court's analysis is as follows:

The court finds the motion procedurally barred and without merit for the following reasons. First, Marshall does not cite to any Florida Supreme Court or United States Supreme Court authority holding that *Porter* established a new fundamental constitutional right that is to apply retroactively. *See Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 930 (Fla. 1980). And Marshall fails to otherwise allege a bonafide exception to the one-year time limitation for filing a motion seeking collateral review after a death sentence has been imposed. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(1) & (2).

In addition, Marshall does not cite to any authority holding that *Porter* changed the standard of review announced in *Strickland*. Thus, Marshall fails to demonstrate unknown grounds for relief required to relitigate prior claims in a successive postconviction motion. *See Wright v. State*, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003).

And even if the motion was not procedurally barred, in Marshall's case, unlike *Porter*, the state courts addressed trial counsel's performance in investigating and presenting mitigating evidence at the penalty phase, and found that counsel's performance was not deficient. *Marshall v. State*, 854 So. 2d 1235, 1244-1248 (Fla. 2003). Therefore, Marshall is not entitled to relief.

(R. 160).

Mr. Marshall timely filed a notice of appeal, and the present appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. *Porter* represents a change in the *Strickland* jurisprudence of this Court that creates a claim cognizable in a successive 3.851 motion because it applies retroactively. II. Applying *Porter* to the facts of Mr. Marshall's case demonstrates that relief is warranted under *Strickland*.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues presented in this appeal consist of two parts: the first is the determination of whether the *Porter* claim is cognizable, meaning whether it creates a change in Florida law and is retroactive in nature. That issue is a question of law that must be reviewed de novo. *See Marshall v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993). The second is the application of *Porter* to Mr. Marshall's case, a determination for which deference is given findings of historical fact. All other facts must be viewed in relation to how Mr. Marshall's jury would have viewed those facts. *See Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009); *see Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 449 n.19 (1995).

Further, the lower court's findings of fact are owed no deference by this Court when they are tainted by legal error. Factual determinations "induced by an erroneous view of the law" should be set aside. *Holland v. Gross*, 89 So. 2d 255, 258 (Fla. 1956); *see also Central Waterworks, Inc. v. Town of Century*, 754 So. 2d 814 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000).

ARGUMENT

MR. MARSHALL'S SENTENCE VIOLATES THE SIXTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS UNDER PORTER V. MCCOLLUM

Mr. Marshall was deprived of the effective assistance of trial counsel. This Court denied Mr. Marshall's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in a manner found unconstitutional in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). The recent decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Porter* establishes that the previous denial of Mr. Marshall's ineffective assistance of counsel claim was premised upon this Court's case law misreading and misapplying Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Porter* represents a fundamental repudiation of this Court's Strickland jurisprudence, and as such Porter constitutes a change in law as explained herein, which renders Mr. Marshall's *Porter* claim cognizable in these postconviction proceedings. *See Witt* v. State, 387 So. 2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980). A Rule 3.851 motion is the appropriate vehicle to present Mr. Marshall's claim premised upon the change in Florida law that Porter represents. Hall v. State, 541 So. 2d 1125, 1128 (Fla. 1989) (holding that claims under *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), a case in which the United States Supreme Court found that this Court had misread and misapplied Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), should be raised in Rule 3.850 motions).

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