IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC11-616

MATTHEW MARSHALL,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 North Flagler Drive, 9th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5108 Counsel for Appellee

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

Here, while Appellant admits that a change in law is not retroactive under <u>Witt</u> unless this standard is met, he makes no attempt to show how the change in law that he alleges occurred meets this standard. In fact, he never clearly identifies

what change <u>Porter</u> made, offers no purpose behind that change in law, and does not mention how extensive the reliance on the allegedly old law was or what the effect on the administration of justice would be. He does not even challenge the lower court's findings regarding these issues. Given these circumstances, the lower court properly found that Appellant failed to establish that the change in law he alleges occurred would be retroactive under <u>Witt</u>. It should be affirmed.

Instead of attempting to show that the change in law he alleges occurred meets <u>Witt</u>, Marshall notes that this Court found <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S. Ct. 1821, 95 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1987) to be retroactive and suggests that because both cases involved findings of error in Florida cases, the change in law he alleges occurred in <u>Porter</u> should be too. However, the mere fact that this Court found a change in law based on a determination that this Court had made an error to meet the <u>Witt</u> standard in one case does not dictate that a finding that this Court committed a different error in a different case would constituted a change in law that satisfies <u>Witt</u> in a different case. This is particularly true when one considers the difference in the errors found in <u>Hitchcock</u> and <u>Porter</u> and the relationship between those errors and the <u>Witt</u> standard.

In <u>Hitchcock</u>, 481 U.S. at 398-99 the Court found that the giving of a jury instruction that told the jury not to consider nonstatutory mitigation was improper.

As such, the purpose of finding this error was to permit a jury to consider evidence the defendant had a constitutional right to have considered. Moreover, because the jury instruction was only given in the penalty phase and could only have harmed a defendant if he was sentenced to death, the number of cases in which there had been an error that would need retroactive correction was limited. Further, because the error was in a jury instruction, determining whether that error occurred in a particular case was simple. All one needed to do was review the jury instructions that had been given in a particular case to see if it was the offending instruction. Courts were not required to comb through stale records looking for errors. See State v. Glenn, 558 So. 2d 4, 8 (Fla. 1990)(refusing to apply Carawan v. State, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987), retroactively). Thus, the purpose of the new rule, extent of reliance on the old rule and effect on the administration of justice in Hitchcock militated in favor of retroactivity.

In contrast, <u>Porter</u> involved nothing more than determining that this Court had unreasonably applied a correctly stated rule of law to the facts of a particular case, as noted above. Thus, the purpose of <u>Porter</u> was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the law to facts of a particular case. Moreover, as the lower court found, Florida courts have extensively relied on the standard of review from <u>Strickland</u> that this Court recognized in <u>Stephens</u> and the effect on the administration of justice from applying the alleged change in law in Porter retroactively would be to bring the courts of Florida to a screeching halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied in Florida.

Given these stark differences in the analysis of changes in law in Porter and Hitchcock and their relationship to Witt factors, the lower court properly determined that the alleged change in law from Porter would not be retroactive under Witt even if it had occurred. In fact, the more apt analogy regarding a change in law would be the change in law that this Court recognized in <u>Stephens</u> itself, as both changes in law concern the same legal issue. However, making that analogy merely shows that the lower court was correct to deny this motion. In Johnston v. Moore, 789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001), this Court held the change in law in Stephens was not retroactive under Witt. Given the fact that Porter would fail the Witt test if it had changed the law and this Court has already determined that changing the law regarding the standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel claims does not meet Witt, the lower court properly determined that any change in law that Porter might have made would not be retroactive. Thus, it properly found that this motion was time barred and should be affirmed.

Moreover, it should be remembered that this claim, as well as the

Brady/Giglio clam, are procedurally barred. Marshall is seeking nothing more than to relitigate the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to investigate and present mitigation that he raised in his first motion for post conviction relief and lost; he does the same with the other claim. As this Court has held, such attempts to relitigate claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. See Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of the case doctrine, Marshall cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003). It is also well established that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Since this is precisely what Marshall is attempting to do here, his claims are barred and were correctly denied. See Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004)(discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

In fact, this Court has rejected attempts to relitigate ineffective assistance claims simply because the United States Supreme Court issued opinions indicating that state courts have erred in rejecting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Marek v. State</u>, 8 So. 3d 1123 (Fla. 2009) <u>cert. denied</u>, 130 S. Ct. 40, 174 L. Ed. 2d

625 (U.S. 2009). There, the defendant argued that his previously rejected claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase had to be re-evaluated under the standards enunciated in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S. Ct. 2456, 162 L. Ed. 2d 360 (2005), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S. Ct. 2527, 156 L. Ed. 2d 471 (2003), and Williams, 529 U.S. 362 because they had changed the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland. This Court decisively rejected the claim, stating "the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland." Marek, 8 So. 3d at 1128. This Court did so even though the United States Supreme Court has found the AEDPA standard of review that state courts' had improperly rejected these claims. Given these circumstance, the claim was barred and was properly denied. The lower court should be affirmed.

Even if Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) could apply to changes in law regarding existing rights that had yet to be held retroactive, <u>Porter</u> had changed the law, the alleged change in law was retroactive and the claim was not procedurally barred, Marshall would still not be entitled to relief. As this Court recognized in <u>Witt</u>, a defendant is not entitled to relief based on a change in law, where the change would not affect the disposition of the claim. Witt, 387 So. 2d at 930-31.

Moreover, as the Court recognized in <u>Strickland</u>, there is no reason to address the prejudice prong if a defendant fails to show that his counsel was deficient. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 697.

<u>Porter</u> does not compel relief in Marshall's case. In <u>Porter</u>, counsel only had one short meeting with the defendant about mitigation, never attempted to obtain any records about the defendant, and never requested mental health evaluation for mitigation at all. <u>Porter</u>, 130 S. Ct. at 453. As detailed in the findings of the trial court, the situation in this case was clearly different with counsel getting records from many institutions and fully interviewing Marshall and his father. In Marshall's case, unlike in <u>Porter</u>, the state courts did address trial counsel's performance at the guilt and penalty phase and found, based on the evidence in the record and at the evidentiary hearing, counsel's performance was not deficient. Marshall does not even suggest how <u>Porter</u> would have affected this determination but, rather, attempts to just reargue the same evidence that this Court previously considered and rejected.

In rejecting this claim, this Court reasoned:

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that he conducted a thorough interview with Marshall prior to trial during which he tried to obtain a life history. Trial counsel acknowledged that his notes from this interview indicated that Marshall did not want to involve his brothers and sisters, although trial counsel said he would have disregarded this request due to his duty to investigate. During this interview, Marshall told trial counsel that he completed tenth grade and started eleventh, that he was very fortunate to have two parents who motivated and encouraged him to succeed, and that there was "so much love" in his family. Marshall also denied being neglected or abused. Marshall described discipline at home as 75% verbal and 25% physical, although he did not characterize the physical discipline as abusive. Marshall did not relate any physical or mental health problems to trial counsel, and denied having suffered any serious head injuries. Defense counsel also indicated that he reviewed Marshall's school, prison, and mental health records.

In addition to speaking with Marshall, trial counsel indicated that he made efforts to speak with family members. Marshall provided trial counsel with his aunt's name, and trial counsel indicated that he wrote two letters to her requesting that she contact him because Marshall had indicated that she could put him in touch with Marshall's father and other relatives. Marshall's aunt never responded to trial counsel's inquiries. Trial counsel, however, did eventually speak with Marshall's father. According to trial counsel, Marshall's father indicated that Marshall had a good upbringing, although he and his brothers were always getting into trouble. Although trial counsel acknowledged that Marshall's father's comments about him having good grades were at odds with Marshall's school records, he indicated that he would not have made a different proffer by editing what the father would have said had he testified. Marshall's father also provided trial counsel with the names and ages of Marshall's brothers, but claimed not to know where they were living because he had disowned them due to their behavior. Trial counsel conceded during the evidentiary hearing that he did not file a motion for an investigator, nor did he request the assistance of either of the investigators working with the public defender's office at the time. Trial counsel explained that he would not have sent a female investigator into urban Dade County looking for witnesses because it would not have been safe. He also indicated that he would not have sent the other investigator, an elderly man, into Dade County either. Although trial counsel stated that he thought about driving into Liberty City himself, he chose not to do so. Trial counsel further explained that he had no information leading him to Liberty City. Trial counsel also testified that he would not have called Marshall's brother Brindley as a witness no matter what he had to offer, because he had previously tried to help Marshall escape. Trial counsel also noted that Marshall's father led him to believe that he was going to bring as many family members as possible with him to the penalty phase. Trial counsel acknowledged that had he possessed information concerning child abuse, he would have presented it at the penalty phase. However, trial counsel testified the problem in this case was that the information Marshall relayed to him coincided with what his father had said.

•••

... As indicated above, trial counsel conducted a thorough pretrial interview of Marshall, who advised him that he was not abused as a child. Similarly, Marshall denied being abused when examined by Dr. Joel Klass, as well as when he was examined by one of the postconviction mental health experts (Dr. Woods). Marshall's version of his childhood was corroborated by his father, and trial counsel indicated that nothing in Marshall's prison or school records indicated abuse. Thus, it does not appear that the trial court erred in concluding that trial counsel conducted a reasonable investigation.

Marshall, 854 So. 2d at 1244-48.

The claim of ineffectiveness of guilt phase counsel did not involve a prejudice analysis, and as such, is not impacted in the least by <u>Porter</u>. In fact, he ignores the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing which supported that finding. Moreover, finding no deficiency in such a situation is in accordance with United States Supreme Court precedent. <u>Bobby v. Van Hook</u>, 130 S. Ct. 13, 175 L. Ed. 2d 255 (2009). As such, Appellant's claim that he was prejudiced by counsel's deficiency - a deficiency that has never been found by this court - would be

meritless even if <u>Porter</u> had changed the law and applied retroactively. The lower court properly denied this motion and should be affirmed.

As argued previously, Marshall's successive motion essentially reasserts his previously-denied claims under <u>Brady</u> and <u>Giglio</u>. <u>See Marshall</u>, 854 So. 2d 1235, 854 So. 2d at 1248-50. Claims raised in prior post-conviction proceedings cannot be relitigated in a successive post-conviction motion unless the movant can demonstrate that the grounds for relief were not known and could not have been known at the time of the earlier proceeding. <u>See Wright</u>, 857 So. 2d, 868. To the extent that Marshall seeks to relitigate his <u>Brady/Giglio</u> claims already decided and rejected by this Court, he does not provide any basis to revisit that claim. <u>Porter</u> is a case applicable to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and does not address the legal analysis of other claims. The factual findings based on the evidentiary hearing supported this Court's finding of neither a <u>Brady</u> or <u>Giglio</u> violation. This Court should affirm the denial of relief.

Finally, it must be noted that Marshall is represented by Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - South ("CCRC") and as such CCRC was not authorized to file the successive, time-barred postconviction motion. Fla. Stat. Ann. § 27.702 (West) provides that "capital collateral regional counsel and the attorneys appointed pursuant to s.27.710 shall file only those postconviction or collateral actions authorized by statute." The Florida Supreme Court has recognized the legislative intent to limit collateral counsel's role in capital post-conviction proceedings. <u>See</u> State v. Kilgore, 976 So. 2d 1066, 1068-1069 (Fla. 2007).

The term "postconviction capital collateral proceedings" is defined in Fla.

Stat. Ann. § 27.711(1)(c) (West)., as follows:

"Postconviction capital collateral proceedings" means one series of collateral litigation of an affirmed conviction and sentence of death, including the proceedings in the trial court that imposed the capital sentence, any appellate review of the sentence by the Supreme Court, any certiorari review of the sentence by the United States Supreme Court, and any authorized federal habeas corpus litigation with respect to the sentence. The term does not include repetitive or successive collateral challenges to a conviction and sentence of death which is affirmed by the Supreme Court and undisturbed by any collateral litigation.

Fla. Stat. Ann. § 27.711(1)(c). Accordingly, CCRC was not authorized to file a successive, untimely, facially insufficient, and procedurally barred collateral challenge.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the State requests respectfully this Court affirm the summary denial of postconviction relief.